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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

NATIONAL IMMIGRATION LAW
CENTER, ACLU FOUNDATION OF
SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA, and

NATIONAL LAWYERS GUILD LOS

ANGELES CHAPTER.
Plaintiffs,

V.

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF
HOMELAND SECURITY and U.S.
IMMIGRATION AND CUSTOMS

'ENFORCEMENT, an agency of the

Department of Homeland Security,
Defendants.
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COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

Freedom of Information Act,
. 5U.S.C. § 552

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF
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313 West 8th Street
Los Angeles, California 90017
Telephone: (213) 977-5211
Facsimile: (213) 977-5297

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

ACLU FOUNDATION OF SOUTHERN
CALIFORNIA and

NATIONAL LAWYERS GUILD LOS
ANGELES CHAPTER

* Application for Pro Hac Vice Pending
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INTRODUCTION

1. More than seven months after requesting records regarding a matter of

public concern from Immigration and Customs Enforcement ("ICE") and the United
States Department of Homeland Security ("DHS").pursuant to the Freedom of
Information Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552 ("FOIA"), and having received neither records nor a
decision on their administrative appeals, Plaintiffs National Immigration Law Center
(“NILC”), American Civil Liberties Union of Southern California (“ACLU—SC”), and
the National Lawyers Guild Los Angeles Chapter (“NLG-LA”) now seek declaratory
and injunctive relief to compel the disclosure and release of agency records improperly
withheld from Plaintiffs by ICE and DHS.

2. On March 4, 2008, Plaintiffs filed a FOIA request with ICE and DHS,
seeking disclosure of government records pertaining to the workplace enforcement
operation conducted by ICE at the Micro Solutions Enterprises ("MSE")
manufacturing plant in Van Nuys, California on February 7, 2008 (“MSE raid”). The

~ disclosure of the requested records will help inform public debate about important

issues of public concern, including, but not limited to, concerns about potentially
discriminatory and unlawful conduct relating to this ICE workplace enforcement
operation and the potential abuses of constitutional and statutory rights of persons
questioned, arrested and detained during the course of this operation.

3. Aspart of the MSE raid, ICE agents interrogated and detained well over
200 workers, although they had arrest warrants for only eight MSE employees. With
the exception of the eight employees for whom ICE had warrants, ICE agents lacked
individualized suspicion as to the other MSE workers they detained. From the first
moments of the operation, all of the workers were effectively in custody; they were not
free to leave. Most if not all of the male employees were handcuffed. Workers who
attempted to call family members to arrange child care, to obtain copies of their

immigration or citizenship documents, or to speak to legal counsel were prevented

3

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF




© W ~N O O A W N -

N N N N N N N DN D A A a @ a3 @S o o e -
O N O O AW N A2 O © 00N OO O W NN -~ O

from using their cell phones. Immigration agents made threatening gestures, such as
holding their hands to their guns.

4. ICE agents transported approximately 140 workers to the downtown Los
Angeles ICE office from the MSE raid site, where they were detained on civil
immigration charges. Approximately fifty of these detained individuals were released
on humanitarian grounds on February 7, 2008. By February 11, 2008, all but
approximately 15 of the detained workers had been released on humanitarian release or
bond. Many of the individuals released on humanitarian grounds, and many of those
later detained, were required to wear electronic monitoring devices. Some of these
workers are still subject to electronic monitoring devices.

5. Information regarding the MSE raid is of public concern. The MSE raid
is one of several recent large worksite enforcement operations in which ICE conducted
mass arrests and detentions using coercive tactics, sweeping in U.S. citizens and legal
permanent residents, and unnecessarily detaining persons who pose no danger or flight
risk whatsoever. The MSE raid was the largest such worksite action in the Los Angeles
area for decades, and was similar in a number of respects to other large-scale recent
raids, including the use of a large number of armed federal agents, the detention and -
interrogation of a large part of the workforce, and the indiscriminate use of electronic

monitoring devices. Some or all of these circumstances characterized each of the raids

“at Pilgrim’s Pride plants in Kentucky and four other states in April 2008, at

Agriprocessors, Inc. in Postville, Iowa in May 2008, and at Howard Industries in
Laurel, Mississippi in August 2008.

6. Plaintiffs seek to determine whether the MSE Raid and the subsequent
treatment of any persons detained were carried out in accordance with applicable
federal, state, and local statutes and regulations, as well as with the agency’s policies
and procedures and consistent with its internal guidelines. The MSE Raid and other
ICE worksite enforcement operations have been the subject of dozens of news stories,

carried by both local and national media sources. The public has an urgent need to
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know if ICE planned for and engaged in any violations of law, regulation, guidelines
or policies and procedures. If abusive practices occurred in connection with the MSE
Raid, public disclosure of this infonhation may lead to a salutary reform of the
government's practices. If abusive practices did not occur, public disclosure of this
fact will help alleviate public concerns regarding the government's conduct in
connection with the MSE Raid. |

7. The documents sought by Plaintiffs regarding the MSE raid go to the
heart of the FOIA's statutory aims of promoting open government, preventing the
entrenchment of secret government practices, and permitting public scrutiny of
governmental action that is of widespread concern. |

8. To date, ICE and DHS have failed to produce a single document in
response to Plaintiffs’ request under the FOIA for the release of agency records
pertaining to the MSE raid. Having exhausted its administrative remedies, Plaintiffs
now bring this action to enjoin ICE and DHS from continuing to improperly withhold
documents in violation of the FOIA.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

9.  This Court has federal subject matter jurisdiction over this action and

personal jurisdiction over the parties pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B). Because this
action arises under federal law against an agency of the United .S.tates, this Court also
has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1346.

10.  Venue lies in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1402 and 5 U.S.C.
§ 552(a)(4)(B). Plaintiffs reside or have their principal places of business in this
district. | .

PARTIES

11.  Plaintiff National Immigration Law Center ("NILC") is a non-profit, non-
partisan organization whose mission is to protect and promote the rights of low-income
immigrants and their family members. NILC staff specializes in immigration law, and

the employment and public benefits rights of immigrants. NILC staff have given
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trainings, written resource materials, and conducted research relating to ICE worksite
enforcement operations, and NILC staff have assisted in the legal representation of
persons who have been arrested on civil immigration charges as a result of such
operations. The Center conducts policy anaiysis and impact litigation and provides
publications, technical advice, and trainings to a broad constituency of legal aid
agencies, community groups, and pro bono attorneys. NILC maintains its principal
office in Los Angeles, California.

12.  Plaintiff ACLU Foundation of Southern California (‘ACLU-SC”) is a
non-profit organization dedicated to the defense of civil rights and civil liberties. As
part of its work, ACLU-SC disseminates information to the public through newsletters,
news briefings, “Know Your Rights” documents, and other educational and
informational materials. ACLU-SC also disseminates information to individuals, tax-
exempt organizations, not-for-profit groups, and members through its website,
http://www.aclu-sc.org. In addition, ACLU-SC shares information with the national
ACLU éfﬁce. The national ACLU publishes information through multiple outlets
including newsletters, action alerts, videos, and other media. ACLU publications are
disseminated across the country to individuals and organizations. The ACLU also
publishes an electronic newsletter, which is distributed to subscribers by e-mail, and
maintains a website of civil rights and civil liberties information at
http://www.aclu.org. The ACLU-SC maintains its principal office in Los Angeles.

13.  Plaintiff National Lawyers Guild Los Angeles Chapter (“NLG-LA”)is an
association dedicated to the defense of civil rights over property rights. Members of
the National Lawyers Guild’s National Immigration Project are attorneys who
specialize in removal defense of noncitizens and regularly publish newsletters, news
briefings, right-to-know documents, and other materials that are disseminated to the |
public. Their materials are widely available to everyone, including tax- exempt |
organizations, not-for-profit groups, law students and faculty, at no cost or for a

nominal fee. Finally, NLG-LA regularly disseminates information through
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neWsletters, which are distributed to subscribers by mail. The NLG-LA maintains its
principal office in Los Angeles.

14. The United States Department of Homeland Security ("DHS") is
the executive department responsible for enforcing federal immigration laws.
Immigration and Customs Enforcement ("ICE") is an agency of DHS and is
responsible for enforcing the immigration laws, including designing and implementing
the MSE raid that was the subject of Plaintiffs’ March 4, 2008 FOIA request.

STATUTORY FRAMEWORK
15. The Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552, mandates disclosure of

- records held by'a federal agency, in response to a request for such records by a

member of the public, unless records fall within certain narrow statutory exemptions.

16. The basic purpose of the FOIA is to enable the public to hold the |
government accouhtable for its actions, through transparency and public scrutiny of
governmental operations and activities. Through access to government information the
FOIA helps the public better understand the government, thereby enabling a vibrant
and functioning democracy. | |

17. Any member of the public may make a request for records to an agency of
the United States under the FOIA. An agency that receives a FOIA request must
respond in writing to the requestor within 20 business days after the receipt of such
request. 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(1). In its response the agency must inform the
requestor whether or not it intends to comply with the request, provide reasons for its
determination, and inform the requestor of her right to appeal the determination. Id.

18. A FOIA requestor who has been denied records may appeal the denial to
the agency. The agency must make a determination on the appeal within 20 business
days of receipt of the appeal. 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(ii). |

19. A FOIA requestor is deemed to have exhausted her administrative
remedies if the agency fails to comply with the statutory time limits. 5 U.S.C. §

552(2)(6)(CX(D-
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20. The FOIA requires an agency to timely disclose all recdrds responsive to
a FOIA request that do not fall within nine narrowly construed statutory exemptions. 5
US.C.§ 552(3;)(3)(A); 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(1)- (b)(9). The FOIA also requires an
agency to make a reasonable search for responsive records. Zemansky v.
Environmental Proiection Agency, 767 F.2d 569, 571 (9th Cir. 1985).

21.  Upon complaint, a district court has jurisdiction to enjoin the agency from
withholding records and to order production of records that are subject to disclosure. 5
U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B).

| FACTUAL BACKGROUND

22.  ICE conducts worksite enforcement actions as part of its charge to enforce
U.S. immigration laws. ICE and DHS have guidelines, memoranda, policies and
procedures and the like in place to govern how actions such as worksite enforcement
actions are to be carried out. To give just one example, ICE developed voluntary
“Guidelines for Identifying Humanitarian Concerns among Administrative Arrestees
When Conducting Worksite Enforcement Operations.” These guidelines set up
numerous planning benchmarks for ICE as it plans for worksite raids targeting over
150 people. ICE also creates more specific plans relating to enforcement actions that
are planned for a particular site, such as MSE. These plans are communicated to the
ICE agents that carry out the enforcement actions as well as, in some instances, local
law enforcement personnel. |

23.  On February 7, 2008, approximately 100 or more armed ICE agents
entered the Micro Solutions Enterprise ("MSE") factory at Van Nuys, California in
order to conduct a workplace raid. The agents entered through each of the exits to the
building, sealing all of these exits, surrounded workers in different parts of the factory
and ordered them to stop working. They then handcuffed most or all of the male
workers and marched all of the factory workers — men and women — into the cafeteria
or to other holding areas. The vast majority of the workers were forced into the

cafeteria. The workers had no choice but to proceed to the holding areas ICE had set
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up. The factory is large, but ICE agents clearly had designed a plan in advance such
that they knew where they were going to detain the more than 200 MSE workers.
They had brought two or more large buses with them for the raid.

24. When the ICE agents ordered the workers to march to the areas
designated for their interrogation, the workers had no choice but to follow those orders.
None of the workers, including U.S. citizens and those authorized to work in the
United States, were free to leave. The ICE agents gave the instruction as marching
orders, and those who fe_ﬁJsed to go along were told that they had to comply. Even
people who attempted to make phone calls or go to the bathroom were not allowed to
do so prior to their being marched into the separate rooms.

25.  Once the ICE agents had marched the majority of the workers into the’
cafeteria, they separated the men and the women. At this point, most if not all of the
men were handcuffed. The men were then separated into two groups—one group |
consiSting of factory floor workers and the other of management workers. The
workers were then told to form lines, and once they did so the ICE agents began to
question them. The workers were not allowed to make any calls, even to arrange for
childcare or to have family members bring them the documents the ICE agents were
demanding. Workers who asked to call attorneys were told that they could not.

26. Prior to conducting the raid itself, ICE officials had sought' and obtained
judicial warrants to conduct certain limited activities at the factory. Specifically, they
obtained authorization to search the worksite, and they obtained authorization to arrest
eight people working at the factory. However, rather than limiting their activities to
those authorized by the warrants, the ICE agents detained and interrogated
approximately 200 other people, including handcuffing most or all males, without
individualized suspicion. Moreover, ICE officials knew in advance that they would
engage in activities not authorized by the warrants, as they brought several buses to the

factory, which were then used to transport approximately 140 workers to downtown
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